IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 29 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL ALAN LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 76,399

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Michael Alan Lawrence is the defendant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of 6 volumes, and references to it will be made by the usual letter "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Escambia County on April 18, 1989 charged Michael Lawrence and Steven Pendleton with first degree murder, robbery, and kidnapping (T707). The state subsequently filed notices that it intended to introduce at trial evidence of eight separate incidences of relevant collateral crimes or bad acts (T708-15). Lawrence objected to this evidence, and at a pre-trial hearing the court admitted much of it (T777).

The State also sought to admit the hypnotically refreshed testimony of two witnesses, but the court refused to let it do so as to one and ruled the other had not been hypnotized (T723). The court, over defense objection, also let the State use the testimony of a jailhouse informant, Larry Sutton, regarding what Lawrence had told him while they shared a cell at the Okaloosa Correctional Institution (T866, 893).

Immediately before trial, the court granted Pendleton's motion to sever (T3). Lawrence was then tried before Judge Jack Heflin and found guilty as charged on all counts (T918-19). He then went to the penalty phase, and after hearing the evidence, law, and argument, the jury, by a vote of 7-5, recommended death (T920). The court followed that recommendation, and in support of it found that Lawrence:

- 1. was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder.
- 2. had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use of violence.
- 3. committed the murder during the course of

- a kidnapping and robbery.
- 4. committed the murder to avoid lawful arrest.
- 5. committed the murder for pecuniary gain.
- 6. committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner.
- 7. committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(T980-83).

The court found none of the statutory mitigation present, and it mentioned, but made no specific finding regarding, the provocation Lawrence had regarding his wife's infidelity which induced him to kill her, resulting in a conviction for second degree murder. It also noted the defendant's marijuana and cocaine use but made no finding as to their mitigating value (T 985).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By the latter part of September 1986, Michael Lawrence had become heavily addicted to cocaine (T 294, 300-301, 323, 425). He had quit his job and resorted to burglaries and thefts to raise money (T 425, 231). In particular, he had broken into a car owned by Fayron Harrison three times and stolen two guns from him, a .25 caliber derringer and a .32 caliber black revolver (T 266-67). He had also stolen \$200 from his mother while she was in the hospital (T 251).

On September 29, about 10 p.m., Lawrence drove with Stephen "Snake" Pendleton to Sonya Gardener's house, and the defendant told her he was using cocaine and wanted to talk with her. He also asked her to come with him and Pendleton for a drive to Pensacola so he could get a bottle of liquor (T 294). She agreed and the trio traveled along the Scenic Highway on the Pensacola Beaches, eventually stopping at a Majik Market to get some gas (T 294). After getting the gas, Lawrence got his bottle of alcohol and they drove the car to some apartments across the street from the convenience store they had left only minutes earlier (T 295). Pendleton took a bag of clothes out of the trunk and told the other two that he had to return them to his girlfriend. He returned a short while later with the bag and said that she was not home (T.296).

Lawrence and Pendleton then decided to return to the Majik Market to get **a** "mixer." They were gone for about thirty minutes (T298), and during that time, Gardener sat on top of

the car listening to several songs on the car radio (T 329).1 Sometime during that time, she heard two pops that sounded like a car backfiring (T 332). Eventually, the pair walked back to the the car as if nothing was the matter (T 333). Lawrence, however, was "really upset and shaking." Pendleton was "emotionless." (T 299)²

The trio drove to the beach, and while there Lawrence told Gardener that he had shot the clerk of the store, Paula Tyree (T 300). Gardener did not believe him because she thought he was "tripping" on cocaine (T 300).

The police, responding to a call from a customer at the Majik Market, went there, and about 11:50 p.m. they found the clerk's body in a storeroom (T152).³ She had been shot twice in the back of the head by a .22 caliber gun (T 191, 286). Two other shots had been fired into the floor next to her (T 174). \$58 was missing from the store's cash register (T 158).

¹This version of what happened was only Gardener's last story of what had happened that night. She had repeatedly lied to the police for several months before March 1989 at which time she gave her inculpating story to them (T 313, 316).

²For some unexplained reason, Lawrence returned to the car wearing **a** different shirt than he had on when he went into the store (T 299).

³The last customer to buy something was Terry Golson who made his purchase at 11:38 p.m. (T 510). He said no one else was in the store then (T 539). The police received the missing clerk report at 11:42 (T 511).

A week or so later, Lawrence told another friend, Georgia Crowell that he had gone into the store, pointed the gun at the clerk, but he had not shot her and had instead left the store (T 234-36).4

By April 1989, Lawrence was in the Escambia county jail and was concerned about the police finding the guns he had stolen from Harrison, which he believed could tie him with the Majik Market murder (T 204). More troubling was his lack of recall of the killing because he had been "strung out an cocaine." (T 204)

Lawrence eventually found his way into the state prison system, and he shared a cell with another inmate, Larry "Rocky" Sutton, who was serving two life sentences far committing two first degree murders (T 423). As inmates do, Lawrence began to talk, and Sutton kook 14 pages of notes of what he said and later gave them to the police (T 424). The defendant told his cell mate that when he was on the streets, he began using cocaine heavily and he quit his job (T 425). On the night of the murder, what happened was "like a dream" his mind was so "messed up."

⁴The testimony on this point is confusing because Crowell could not recall exactly when Lawrence told her about the attempted robbery, whether it was before or after the robbery-murder for which he was eventually charged and convicted (T 235-37).

^{&#}x27;Lawrence has a prior conviction for the second degree murder of his wife, whom he had caught committing adultery when he was 20 (T 667, 671-2).

(T 425). He told Sutton that he and Pendleton had gone into the store and during the robbery, the clerk began arguing with him, and he shot her (T 426).6

⁶Sutton, over defense objection (T 428), also said Lawrence had called a girl named Linda from the county jail and told her not to testify. She also needed to be killed because she was a "New York con artist, that she had him and hall his friends fooled, even momma." (T 428)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Lawrence raises **six** issues in this appeal, two guilt and four penalty phase issues. The first involves collateral evidence the court allowed, and **because** so much was used, this argument is divided into several sub-parts.

The court admitted a statement Lawrence allegedly made that "Linda needed killing because she was a New York con artist and had fooled everyone, including momma." It had no relevance to the charged crimes because Linda was never identified, and it was never linked to the murder of the Majik Market clerk. It only showed Lawrence's willingness to kill someone who had made a fool of him. Admitting such evidence only served to expose the defendant's bad character.

The court also let the jury hear evidence that a Gerald Anweiler had a .22 caliber gun which disappeared sometime in September 1986 from his apartment. The State never proved Lawrence took the weapon or that he had ever been in the apartment where Anweiler and his girlfriend lived. The State said this evidence was relevant because Lawrence admitted he had stolen several guns, he knew Anweiler's girlfriend, and the murder weapon was a .22 caliber gun. Such a tenuous connection to this crime did not tend to prove or disprove any material fact and was therefore speculative and inadmissible.

The court also admitted extensive evidence regarding a .25 caliber derringer and a .32 caliber black revolver, neither of which could have been the murder weapon, since the clerk was killed by a .22 caliber gun. The alleged relevancy of these

weapons came from a statement Lawrence made that he wanted the derringer disposed of since it could connect him with the killing. Whatever marginal relevancy that connection may have had was certainly outweighed by the prejudice created when the State introduced extensive evidence Lawrence had stolen both guns and what he wanted done with them. The evidence about the guns was relevant solely to show his consciousness of guilt. How he got them or what he did with them after the murder had nothing to do with this murder, and it only showed his bad character. This latter conclusion was emphasized when he told the jail house snitch, Rocky Sutton, that he had used a .22 automatic to commit the crime.

The court also admitted evidence that Lawrence wanted **a** package "dropped off" to Steve Pendleton. What was in the package was never revealed, but the implication clearly was that it contained a gun. Again, the relevance of this evidence **was** merely speculative.

Georgia Crowell, an acquaintance of Lawrence said that a week or so after the robbery murder, he went **back** to the store to rob it, but after producing a gun, he could not shoot the clerk and he left. That attempted robbery had **so** few similarities to the robbery murder and so many dissimilarities with the charged crimes that it **was** irrelevant.

The court also admitted evidence Lawrence was addicted to cocaine because, as the state argued, it showed why he had such a need for money. The state proved that addiction and his great need for money, but it did not, however, present any

evidence he needed money because of that habit. To have admitted evidence of his drug use, therefore, was irrelevant.

The court let Rocky Sutton tell the jury that Lawrence "jiggled old women out of their money." That showed only the defendant's **bad** character.

The collateral crime evidence, when taken individually and more especially when considered in the aggregate, was so damaging that it could not be considered harmless.

Rocky Sutton had been used as a jail house informant by the police before, and shortly after Lawrence was placed in administrative confinement at Okaloosa Correctional Institution, Sutton was assigned the same cell. He claimed he never asked Lawrence any questions, yet during the several days he spent with him, the defendant carried on a one man conversation in which he repeatedly gave incriminating statements to no one in particular and which Sutton surreptitiously copied down as the defendant spoke. The State implicitly acknowledged that Sutton was an agent for them, but it said that because he had never questioned the defendant, what he received from Lawrence did not violate his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Yet, the 14 pages Sutton wrote are replete with passages where he explicitly asked the defendant about his participation in the robbery murder. Sutton was not simply a passive listening post: instead, he actively questioned Lawrence and directly elicited incriminating responses from him.

In sentencing Lawrence to death the court said he committed the murder to avoid lawful arrest. There is, however, no evidence that he killed the store clerk primarily to do so. To the contrary, the State's own witness established why he killed her: she was rude to him, and Lawrence, with his cocaine soaked brain, shot her.

Likewise, the murder was not especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. This court has said that quick killings with a gun do not generally amount to being especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. Even adding the evidence that the victim was shot in a closet as she laid on the floor does not provide the additional facts necessary to transform this heinous murder into one that is especially so.

The murder also was not committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. There is very little evidence of any planning, much less the required "careful planning" necessary before this aggravating factor can be found. As mentioned, the State's evidence clearly showed Lawrence committed the murder in a rage, which is incompatible with the cold, calculated nature required to justify this aggravating factor.

Finally, there was extensive evidence of Lawrence's cocaine addiction presented at trial, and the defendant urged the jury to consider it as justifying a life recommendation. It evidently had some appeal because five of the jurors recommended a life sentence, despite his prior murder conviction. The trial court, however, made scant mention of it in its sentencing order, and what attention it did give does

not satisfy this court's requirement that the court treat all the mitigation offered by the defendant, and write with "unmistakable clarity" what consideration it gave to what the defendant offered in mitigation. That was error.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AS COLLATERAL CRIMES EVIDENCE, BURGLARIES COMMITTED BY LAWRENCE, WEAPONS HE HAD STOLEN, AND HIS USE OF COCAINE, AND OTHER COLLATERAL CRIMES.

Before trial, the State filed a notice that it intended to introduce at trial eight prior bad acts of Lawrence (R 708-15). In response to those notices, the defendant filed a Motion in Limine asking the court to prevent the State from using evidence that Lawrence had stolen guns which were not the murder weapon, and any mention of Lawrence's prior criminal activity (R 812). At the hearing on this motion, the court denied the motion (R 840, 842, 846, 848, 858). Accordingly, the State introduced the following evidence of prior bad acts Lawrence allegedly had committed:

- 1. He said that a girl identified only as Linda needed killing.
- 2. He may have stolen a .22 caliber gun from George Anweiler.
- 3. He had stolen a .25 caliber derringer and a .32 caliber black revolver.
- 4. He told Steven Pendleton to get rid of a package.
- 5. He tried to rob a clerk at the same store a week after the murder, **but** he lost his nerve.
- 6, He was heavily addicted to cocaine for which he needed money.
- 7. While on the streets, he **had** "jiggled old women" for money.

These bad acts had no relevance to prove any material elements of the charged crimes; and they only exhibited the defendant's bad character.

While this court may agree that admitting each of the complained pieces of evidence was error, it may also find it individually harmless. But the **bad** acts should not be viewed as such. Instead, this court must look at the total study in black the State **has** painted. When viewed as a whole, the result is one for which the harmless error rule is inapplicable. State v. DiGuillio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), and this court should remand for a new trial. But, we are getting ahead of ourselves. Lawrence must first demonstrate that admitting this evidence was error.

The law in this area derives from the seminal case of Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1957) which was codified in Section 90.404(1), Florida Statutes (1989):

(a) Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

This court has interpreted this statute to allow the jury to consider two types of prior bad acts. The classic situation occurs when the prosecution **seeks** to prove the defendant's identity or intent by using other crimes he has committed which have a significant number of unusual similarities with the charged crime. Drake v. State, 400 \$0.2d 1217 (Fla. 1981).

The <u>Williams</u> rule crimes are admitted because they share sufficient, unusual similarities with the charged crime that the jury could reasonably infer that if the defendant committed the earlier crime, he committed this one.

If, on the other hand, the crimes lack any "fingerprint" type of similarity to the charged crime, but are otherwise relevant, they are admissible.

So long **as** evidence of other crimes is relevant for any purpose the fact that it is prejudicial does not make it inadmissible. All evidence that points to a defendant's commission of **a** crime is prejudicial. The true test is relevancy.

Ashley v. State, 265 50,2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972).

Thus, for this latter type of evidence the criteria for admissibility is relevancy. Bryan v. State, 533 \$0.2d 744 (Fla. 1988). Even here, however, if the evidence's tendency only exhibits the defendant's bad character, such proof is inadmissible. This court has considered several cases involving this situation.

In Amoros v. State, 531 \$0.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) the trial court properly admitted evidence that the defendant had a gun which was used in a murder committed a month before the one for which he was on trial. Because it had been used in both killings, and the defendant had it immediately after the first homicide, it tended to support the claim that he had used it to murder this latest victim. It was relevant because it was the only direct link between the current murder and the defendant.

In <u>Shriner v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1980), the defendant robbed a motel using a gun, and 90 minutes later he committed a murder, The gun used in the murder was linked with the robbery and the victim of the crime identified Shriner as the one who had committed the crime against him. Thus, evidence of the gun being used in the robbery connected the defendant to both crimes.

In <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988), the court admitted evidence that Bryan had used a shotgun to rob a bank three months before he committed a murder and that he had stolen a boat approximately one week before the homicide. The evidence of the robbery was admissible because it tended to establish Bryan owned the shotgun, which was the murder weapon. Evidence of the stolen boat was relevant because it placed the defendant in contact with the victim, and the theft was close enough in time so that it was necessary to admit it to give the jury a complete picture of how Bryan came in contact with the victim.

Thus, the defendant's prior bad acts and despicable character can be admitted if they tend to prove an essential element of the State's case. But, given their corrosive effect on the presumption of innocence, they should be admitted only after careful scrutiny and with great caution.

THE THREAT TO KILL LINDA

The mast shocking bad character evidence the court admitted concerned a statement Lawrence allegedly made to This informant said the defendant had called a woman identified only as Linda and "told her don't be in court to testify against me on the burglary charges." (T 427) Sutton then said "[Lawrence] said Linda needed killing because she was a New York con artist, that she had him and all his friends fooled, even momma." (T 428) Lawrence objected to this testimony at trial and before (T 832, 847) on relevancy grounds. At trial, he claimed that the Williams rule notice (R 714) had specifically said the statement was made after he had been charged with the murder (T 428-29). The State said it did not make any difference when he made it, it was still relevant (T429). The court, apparently agreeing with the State, denied Lawrence's Motion for Mistrial (T 430). court, however, erred because there was never any showing that whatever threats Lawrence made had any connection to the Majik Market murder.

The State, at the pre-trial hearing on the admissibility of this evidence, cited this court's decision in <u>Sireci v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 399 So.2d **964** (Fla. 1981). In that **case**, Sireci had told his girlfriend and brother-in-law about a murder he had committed. Later, he also told a cellmate named Holtzinger about the murder and an attempt he had made to have his brother-in-law killed. He wanted that man killed to prevent him from testifying about the charged murder, which would (in

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