### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ALAN LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 76, 399

SID J. WHITE 1991

CLERK, FURRENE COURT

CHERK, FURRENE DEPUN CHERK

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL, FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

rebutted by the state as it effects the guilty phase. ...

Castro v. State, 541 So.2d at 115

See also Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988); Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802; Remsta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988); Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857 (Fla. 1987); State v. Diguilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) and Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) wherein the Court further observed

"Corell argues that this testimony violated § 90.404, Florida Statutes 1985, prohibits the introduction of similar fact evidence when it used solely to prove bad character or propensity. However, the point is not properly before this Court because of defense counsel's failure to object to the testimony at trial. Even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review. *Phillips v. State*, 476 So.2d **194** (Fla. 1985); *German v. State*, **379** So.2d *1013* (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 388 So.2d 1113 (Fla. Moreover, even if an objection had been made, testimony was sufficient relevant Corell show that had demonstrated hostility toward Susan on the night of the murders by slashing her boyfriends tires. Moreover, this evidence tended to prove that Corell was a killer because the keys to Mary Beth Jones's car which had been stolen on the night of the murders, were found on the trunk lid of the car with the slashed tires." So,2d at 566.

#### 1. THE THREAT TO KILL LINDA

The first piece of evidence Lawrence asserts was the "most shocking bad character evidence the court admitted" was testimony elicited through Larry Sutton an informant who heard Lawrence call a woman named Linda and "told her don't be in court to testify against me on the burglary charges." (TR 427). Sutton then said "[Lawrence] said Linda needed killing because she was a

New York con artist, that she had him and all his friends fooled, even mama." (T 428). Lawrence objected to this testimony at trial and pretrial (T 832, 847) on relevancy grounds. At trial, he claimed that the Williams Rule noticed (R 714) had specifically stated that the statement was made after he had been charged with murder (T 428-429). The state said it did not make any difference when he made it, it was still relevant (T 429). The Court, apparently agreeing with the state, denied Lawrence's Motion for Mistrial (T 430). . . . " (Appellant's Brief, page 17.)

The trial court relying on Sireci u. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981), denied defense counsel's objection to the state's notice of use of Williams Rule evidence pretrial. (TR 846-848). At trial, when defense counsel objected to the statement by Larry Sutton as to what Lawrence said, the trial court observed that "

as the cases say, I don't see a manifest necessity here for a mistrial. I think you caught it. I appreciate your position, but I think we've caught it in time." (TR 430). The Court further observed "... Mr. Dees, your motion is denied. The jury will please disregard the last statements made by Mr. Sutton." (TR 431). At this point no further mention was ever made with regard to the aforenoted reference by Lawrence that he was going to eliminate other witnesses.

Appellee would submit the case is controlled by this Court's decision in *Sireci v. State*, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); *Haliburton u. State*, 561 So.2d 248, 251 (Fla. 1990), and *Anderson v. State*, 574 So.2d 87, 93 (Fla. 1991).

In Haliburton v. State, supra, this Court found that ". . . this single inadvertent reference to the outcome of a prior trial, was harmless error as was the comment, "Well, there is a couple more people that I want to get." We are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that neither comment affected the outcome of the trial."

561 So.2d at 251. A similar result is warranted sub judice.

#### 2. THE ANWEILER GUN

Lawrence next asserts that the trial court admitted over his objection the testimony of Gerald Anweiler that he once owned a chrome plated .22 caliber pistol with white bone grips. The state countered that said evidence did not go to bad acts but rather ". . he's going to say he owned a Harrington & Richardson revolver with a pearl handle, that he gave it to Atkins in September 1986; that Michael Lawrence and Steven Pendleton visited in September 1986, that sometime during September 1986 that gun disappeared. David Williams testified that the murder weapon was a .22 and that it could have been fired from various guns including a Harrington & Richardson revolver. That makes it relevant because of the statement "I stole different guns from different places, a gun here, a gun He didn't remember what gun he used." Following said remarks, the trial court asked defense counsel if he wanted a Williams Rule instruction at which point defense counsel said yes, (TR 271). The court then instructed the jury that:

"Ladies and gentlemen, the evidence you're about to receive concerning evidence of other crimes allegedly committed by Mr. Lawrence will be considered by you for the limited

purpose of proofing motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, the absence of mistake or accident on the part of Mr. Lawrence, and you shall consider it only as it relates to those issues. Mr. Lawrence is not on trial for a crime that is not included in the indictment that was read to you at the beginning of this trial. . . " (TR 271-272)

Clearly, Mr. Anweiler's testimony was relevant and demonstrated how Lawrence may have secured the murder weapon. He was subject to extensive cross-examination with regard to his memory as to when his .22 caliber gun was missing. The circumstantial evidence clearly demonstrated that Lawrence had the opportunity to secure the gun. And, that gun could have been the murder weapon based on the ballistics expert's testimony that a Harrington & Richardson revolver could have fired the bullets that were retrieved from Paul Tyree's skull.

Lawrence reliance on *Huhn v. State*, 511 So.2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) and *Manuel v. State*, 524 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) are misplaced. In *Huhn*, the charge was not first degree murder nor was there any evidence relating that the gun in Mr. Huhn's possession was the gun used in the armed kidnapping and aggravated assault case. Similarly in *Manuel v. State*, supra, there was no connection made with regard to the defendant and there was "only a bare suspicion that the caller was Manuel.'' (Appellant's Brief page 20.)

Clearly the information by Gerald Anweiler was relevant and admissable sub judice. See *Swafford v. State*, **533 So.2d** 270 (Fla. 1988); *Amoros v. State*, **531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988)** and *Shriner v. State*, **386 So.2d 524 (1980)**.

## 3. THE .22 AND .32 CALIBER GUN

Lawrence argues that the state "continued its fascination with guns by producing evidence that Lawrence had broken into the car of Fayron Harrison and had stolen two guns from him: caliber derringer and a .32 caliber black revolver (T 266-267)." (Appellant's Brief, page 21). The record reflects that at no time in the cited transcript pages regarding any witnesses and these two guns, did defense counsel object to the testimony presented. Pursuant to Correll v. State, 523 So.2d at 566, this particular subpoint of Point I is not properly before the court because defense counsel failed to abject to the testimony at "Even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review." Correll, 523 So.2d at **566.** 

The record reflects that the only objection raised by defense counsel (TR 230) was asserted when the state asked Georgia Crowell how many times Lawrence told her he, Lawrence, took some guns from Harrison's car. (TR 229). Defense counsel objected arguing that the murder weapon was a .22 caliber gun and the guns they were talking about had no relationship to the case. The Court denied the objection and instructed the jury that the evidence they were about to hear concerning other criminal activity by Mr. Lawrence could be considered only for the limited purposes asserted in the instruction. (TR 230-231). Appellee would submit that the instant objection was not sufficient to present this issue squarely before the court, since there was no

objection to Fayron Harrison's testimony that two guns were stolen from him nor objection when Sonya Gardner testified that Lawrence said he had stolen the derringer from Harrison and sold it to her brother.

The circumstances surround the guns, to wit: caliber derringer and the .32 caliber revolver were relevant to the state's case in that at the time Lawrence was incarcerated and specifically talking to Sonya Gardner and Summerlain, he did not know which gun was actually used to commit the murder. told Sonya Gardner to get rid of the gun he gave her. He repeatedly asked Sonya Gardner whether she had done so. clear that Lawrence told Georgia Crowell that he needed money and he needed the gun to get money late in September. He also told her that he was going to rob a Majik Market across the street from where Ms. Crowell lived. After Lawrence was arrested he called her and told her not to talk to the police about what When she visited Lawrence, he told her that he could happened. not be linked to the murder because the gun that was used was in the river. (TR 231-234).

Terminally, the events surrounding the theft of the two guns from Fayron Harrison never became a feature of the crime but rather was an incident that explained how Lawrence was in possession of a number of weapons. See Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1990), Carter v. State, 560 So.2d 1166, 1167-1168 (Fla. 1990) (harmless error to admit evidence of a knife and gun not used in the murder).

#### 4. THE PACKAGE

Lawrence argues the trial court improperly admitted evidence that Sonya Gardner was told by Lawrence "to take a message to Pendleton to get rid of a package." (TR 304). No objection was raised by defense counsel at trial to this statement and as such pursuant to Correll v. State, supra, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review.

#### 5. THE ROBBERY

Lawrence next argues that it was error for the trial court to allow Georgia Crowell to testify that a week or so after the murder, Lawrence returned to the same convenient store, "pulled the gun with intend to rob [the clerk] but after looking in her eyes, he couldn't pull the trigger, and he left the store." (T 233). (Appellant's Brief, page 24).

Citing to trial record pages 233 and 262, Lawrence argues said testimony was admitted "over the objection of trial counsel." However, a review of the direct testimony of Georgia Crowell reflects that no objection was raised as to this point on either page 233 or 262 or for that matter any time during Georgia Crowell's direct or redirect trial testimony. In fact, defense counsel's objections during Georgia Crowell's direct and redirect reflect that on TR 228-defense counsel objected to the prosecutor pointing the defendant out; TR 229-defense counsel objected to the prosecution asking leading questions; TR 230, 231-defense counsel objected to Williams Rule evidence arquinq "basically this goes to the fact that the murder weapons was a .22 caliber, and these guns that she's talking about has no

relationship to this case, no relevancy, . . ." (As a result a Williams Rule instruction was given by the trial court); TR 231-defense counsel again objected to leading questions; direct examination ended at TR 235. Redirect commenced at TR 261 at which point defense counsel object to another leading question; TR 262-defense counsel asserted that prosecution was trying to put words into Ms. Crowell's mouth; redirect ended at TR 264, without any further objections being made. Pursuant to Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 566, this issue is not properly before the court since no objection was raised at trial to the admission (of rather confusing testimony) regarding another attempt by Lawrence to rob a convenience store.

Additionally, even assuming for the moment this court may review this particular issue, the prejudice that "might" attach is at best de mininis in light of the hay made by defense counsel on cross-examination of Georgia Crowell. Defense counsel successfully "brought into confusion" Ms. Crowell's testimony regarding the gun and when Lawrence said he "robbed" another convenience store. Clearly under Duckett v. State, 568 So.2d 891, 895 (Fla. 1990); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988) and Correll v. State, supra, the admission of the another convenient store robbery if error, was harmless error.

Terminally, it is submitted that testimony regarding other convenience store robberies went to show evidence of planning and staking out of the Majik Markets as a means to obtain money. Lawrence told Georgia Crowell that he needed money and in order to get money he needed to have a gun, He talked about planning a

convenience store robbery and related to her an aborted attempt to rob the same Majik Market. This evidence was clearly admissable to show plan and motive and Lawrence's wherewithal in the commission of the instant murder.

#### 6. LAWRENCE'S COCAINE ADDICTION

Lawrence complains about the admission of evidence regarding his addiction to cocaine. There was no objection to its admission at trial albeit, the subject matter of a pretrial motion in limine. Correll v. State, supra. The record reflects that on more than one occasion Lawrence told Sonya Gardner and Georgia Crowell as well as Melvin Summerlain and Larry Sutton that he was using cocaine at the time of the murder and in fact he was not sure whether he did commit the murder since it seemed like a 323, and 425). dream. (TR 204, 294, Ironically in most instances mention of Lawrence's drug usage preceded a remark by Lawrence that he did not know if he committed the murders because it seemed like it was a dream. Most of the statements made could reasonably have been used to support an argument that Lawrence did not intend the murder. defense counsel made a reasonable Second, practically all the evidence of doubt argument. Lawrence's drug addiction was presented during the guilt phase of Lawrence's trial. Lawrence's mother Dorothy Lawrence testified that she did not know her son used drug. (TR 675). Information that was introduced via the 1976 PSI report reflected that one of the doctors, a Dr. Marshall believed Lawrence's failure to remember certain portions of his 1976 murder of his wife were self-serving. (TR 683). Consequently, but far the testimony of

the state's witnesses, Lawrence would not have had a mitigating factor to discuss. See: POINT VI. This Court in *Craig v. State*,

\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_, (Fla. 1991) 16 F.L.W. S604, S605, found similar evidence admitted harmless error. State v. DiGuilio, 493 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

#### 7. JIGGLING OLD WOMEN

Terminally, Lawrence argued that during the state's examination of Larry Sutton, Sutton told the jury that Lawrence had told him that "on the streets he began to do cocaine heavy and quit his job and began to jiggle old women out of their money." [T 425]. (Appellant's Brief, page 27).

The record reflects that an objection was made by defense counsel but there was absolutely no explanation as to the nature of the objection and following thereafter the prosecution observed:

"[By Mr. Rimmer] Okay. Let's focus strictly on what he told you about this murder case. Let me direct your attention to page two of your statement. I might be able to help you -- give me a little leeway.

Mr. Dees: That's fine.''

No further objection was articulated by defense counsel. Pursuant to *Correll v. State*, supra, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Moreover even assuming for the moment the objection was specific enough, such an admission to the jury could not have possible effected the jury's deliberation regarding whether Lawrence committed the crime. See *Carter v. State*, 560 So.2d at 1167, 1168 and *Gunsby v. State*, 574 So.2d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 1990).

Pursuant to Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, 908 (Fla. 1991) neither individually nor collectively the errors complained of sub judice were anything more than harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. See also Haliburton v. State, supra; Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d at 806, 807; and Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825, 827, 828 (Fla. 1988). No relief should be forthcoming as to this point.

## POINT II

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY OF THE "PROFESSIONAL" THE JAIL HOUSE INFORMANT, LARRY "ROCKY" **SUTTON** REGARDING **WHAT LAWRENCE** ALLEGEDLY TOLD HIM WHILE HE WAS IN THE OKALOOSA CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTE, VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS **FAIR TRIAL** AND**EFFECTIVE** REPRESENTATION OF COUNSEL.

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